IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

NO. 16-0440
CIVIL

**IN THE MATTER OF PROPERTY SEIZED
FROM JEAN CARLOS HERRERA AND
FERNANDO RODRIGUEZ**

**JEAN CARLOS HERRERA AND
FERNANDO RODRIGUEZ**

CLAIMANTS-APPELLANTS.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT OF POTTAWATTAMIE
COUNTY
HONORABLE MARK J. EVELOFF AND HONORABLE GREG W.
STEENSLAND

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

STOWERS & SARCONI PLC
Dean Stowers
West Glen Town Center
650 S. Prairie View Drive, Suite 130
West Des Moines, IA 50266
Telephone: (515) 224-7446
Fax: (515) 225-6215
Email: dean@stowerssarcone.com
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANTS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Should a Claimant from whom property was seized be able to have his motion to suppress the fruits of a search and seizure heard before being required to provide testimonial details in an answer to an in rem forfeiture complaint to establish standing, when the Claimant claimed ownership and objected to providing such testimonial details and asserted that such information would be fruit of an illegal search and seizure?**

In re Flowers, 474 N.W.2d 546 (Iowa 1991).

Simmons v. United States, 390 U.S. 377 (1968).

Wohlstrom v. Buchanan, 884 P.2d 687 (Ariz. 1994).

- II. Did Claimant suffer an unconstitutional penalty for exercising his right to challenge the search and seizure and argue for application of the exclusionary rule in forfeiture proceedings when the district court summarily dismissed his claim to the property and forfeited the property to the State because of his objection to providing testimonial details without first addressing the motion to suppress?**

State v. Washington, 832 N.W.2d 650 (Iowa 2013).

Spevack v. Klein, 385 U.S. 511, 514 (1967).

U.S. v. James Daniel Good Real Property, 510 U.S. 43 (1993).

Wohlstrom v. Buchanan, 884 P.2d 687 (Ariz. 1994).

- III. Is a Claimant entitled to attorney's fees as a prevailing party under Iowa Code § 809A.12(7) both at the trial court level and on appeal where that Claimant had to litigate his claim to the property for six months and was forced to make numerous filings and motions before the State finally withdrew its claim to the property?**

In re Marriage of Roerig, 503 N.W.2d 620 (Iowa App. 1993).

Dutcher v. Randall Foods, 546 N.W.2d 889, 895 (Iowa 1996).

Farrar v. Hobby, 506 U.S. 103 (1992).

ROUTING STATEMENT AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Claimants request that this case be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court. This case presents substantial issues of first impression and constitutional questions as to the proper procedure for a court to employ when a claimant asserts the search and seizure upon which the forfeiture is based were improper. Claimants request 15 minutes at oral argument.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

Claimants appeal an order by the district court that found Claimants' Answer to the In Rem Forfeiture Complaint insufficient because it objected to providing testimonial statements as to matters requested therein because claimant argued the search and seizure were unlawful and such information would be fruit of the poisonous tree, and simultaneously forfeited the property. (A¹144-148). Claimant Rodriguez also appeals an order by the district court after the return of his property denying attorney's fees. (A191-193).

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in District Court

Both appeals arose out of the same legal proceedings. On September 12, 2015, Claimant Jean Carlos Herrera was stopped for allegedly travelling 74 m.p.h. in a 70 m.p.h zone. (A57). The officer at the stop detained Claimant Herrera for over 40 minutes, subjecting him to interrogation, detention in a squad car, and three separate criminal background checks. (A65, 67). After 40 minutes had passed, the officer conducted a search of the vehicle. Certain property at issue was seized as a result of this prolonged, illegal seizure and search, including a 1999 Ford Expedition (hereinafter "the vehicle"), soft serve ice cream machine, pelican case, cordless drill and battery, and vacuum pump. (A46).

¹ "A" refers to the Appendix.

Shortly after, counsel for Claimant Rodriguez emailed the county attorney about the property. (A75). Claimant Rodriguez was not present during the stop, but was a family friend of Claimant Herrera and possessed valid title to the vehicle. *See* (A1-2). In the email, counsel stated Claimant Rodriguez would be seeking the vehicle's return as an innocent owner under Iowa Code 809A.5 and fees Rodriguez incurred for contesting that return would be recoverable from the State. After reading the email, the officer believed he must have missed something during the search. (A47-56). The officer filed an application for search warrant, and a *second* search of the vehicle was conducted—this time deconstructive in nature. *Id.* The application was based on the officer's improper contention that nobody would pay an attorney to seek return of a vehicle because the cost to secure the return of the vehicle would exceed the vehicle value. During the second search, U.S. currency was located and seized.

On September 23, 2015, Claimant Rodriguez filed an Application for Prompt Probable Cause Hearing under Iowa Code § 809A.12(3)(a)(1), stating he was the owner of the vehicle and was entitled to its immediate return. (A1-2). A hearing was set, and subsequently continued, on that motion. (A3). In addition, on Sept. 25, 2015, Claimant Rodriguez served upon the county attorney and seizing agency a notarized claim for return of seized property under Iowa Code § 809A.11, again claiming to be an innocent owner. (A28-31). Attached was the title to the

vehicle, showing Claimant Rodriguez as the owner. *Id.* This document was later filed for the record, although Iowa Code § 809A.11 does not require the document to be filed. *Id.*

Parallel to the above proceedings, the State filed an In Rem Forfeiture complaint under Iowa Code § 809A.13 for the seized property. (A4-19). This complaint bore the same case number as Claimant Rodriguez's request for a probable cause hearing and Claim for Return of Property. (A3); (A28-31). This created some confusion as to the proper caption of the pleadings and identification of parties, because the caption and parties were different than—but the case number was the same as—the request for probable cause hearing filed by Rodriguez. (A1-2).

On November 5, 2015, Claimants filed an Answer under Iowa Code § 809A.13 on behalf of Jean Carlos Herrera and Fernando Rodriguez in response to the State's complaint. (A20-22). A Motion to Suppress was then filed, and at the hearing and in subsequent briefing it was made clear the motion was made on behalf of both Herrera and Rodriguez. (A23-24; (A70-73).

On December 10, 2015, counsel for Herrera and Rodriguez traveled to Council Bluffs for a scheduled hearing on the motion to suppress. At the beginning of the hearing on the suppression motion, the State orally raised—for the first time—a surprise argument that the Claimants' answer was not sufficient to

give them standing under Iowa Code § 809A.13(4). (A33-38). The State argued if the Answer was insufficient, then Claimants could not be heard on the motion and the property should be forfeited. *Id.* Counsel for Claimants argued Claimants had the right to have the motion to suppress heard first before deciding whether to provide testimonial answers and waive any Fifth Amendment privilege, because any answer would be fruit of the illegal search such that it would be senseless to require a testimonial answer before determining the issues concerning the search.

Counsel argued:

Mr. Stowers: Verbally, I would just say this. There's an initial claim where we attached the title of the vehicle. That submittal is part of the claim prior to the filing of the forfeiture complaint.

The Court: I did note that you did that.

Mr. Stowers: And then we did file an answer which asserts an ownership and possessory interest. At the end of the thing it says, we certify under penalty of perjury, so, um, and then it's signed.

And then the other thing is that it's always been my position in these cases that—and there is case law we can provide to the court to this effect—that when you have the allegation that there's been an unlawful search and seizure of the property that they're seeking to forfeit, that part of the remedy for that violation is protecting the claimant against being required to divulge further information to support their claim to get their property back if the property was, indeed, unlawfully searched and seized. Because part of the remedy on a Fourth Amendment violation is a suppression of the evidence and the fruits of that. So if you start to require somebody who's claiming a Fourth Amendment violation to come into court and say all sorts of things of an evidentiary nature above and beyond what maybe is known already or is claimed already, then you're getting into the issue of requiring somebody to give fruit of the violation that they're claiming.

Now if the Motion to Suppress is denied, then somebody could be required at that point to come back in and amend their claim and their answer. But if you required it now, you would be essentially

violating the very thing that they're—you'd be sort of prejudging the issue of the violation. So we think it's not appropriate to require detailed disclosures when there's a Fourth Amendment issue that has to be taken up first.

(A36-37).

The hearing on the motion to suppress was fully conducted at that time. Briefing was subsequently submitted to the court (on behalf of both Claimants) on this issue and on the Motion to Suppress. (A91-98); (A99-143). On Feb. 9, 2016, the court entered an order that simultaneously found the Answer insufficient and declared the property forfeited—all without addressing the legality of the search, the Claimant's right to silence, or the argument that any required testimonial answer would be fruit of the challenged search and seizure. (A144-148). *Id.* Claimants appeal this holding.

As a result of the confusing pleading captions and party identifications—and despite clarifying the issue expressly at the hearing of December 10, 2015—the court also found that Rodriguez had not moved to suppress any evidence. (A144-148). In response, counsel filed a Motion to Expand the ruling to have the court address it as to Claimant Rodriguez. (A149-151). Out of an abundance of caution, counsel also filed a separate Motion to Suppress on behalf of Rodriguez. (A152-153).

At that point, the State indicated to the judge in an *ex parte* discussion—for the first time since litigation had ensued in September—it would no longer be

contesting return of the vehicle to Rodriguez. The court entered an order directing the vehicle be returned. (A154-155). The prosecutor and the court evidently had the understanding that “voluntarily” withdrawing the claim to forfeiture of the vehicle at the last second and on the eve of the hearing after resisting it for five months would somehow avoid any claim to attorney fees. The County Attorney and the court have reportedly engaged in this practice on other occasions as a way to avoid attorney fee claims.

Claimant Rodriguez submitted an Application for Attorney’s Fees and Attorney Fee affidavit as the “prevailing party” under Iowa Code 809A.12 because the vehicle had been ordered returned (which was the relief Rodriguez had sought). (A156-157); (A158-159). The State then filed a Motion to Reopen the case, falsely claiming that the vehicle had been ordered returned to Claimant Rodriguez pursuant to an alleged agreement whereby Rodriguez, who had been trying for many months to obtain his vehicle with help of counsel, would not claim attorney fees. (A160-162). Claimant Rodriguez submitted to the court documentation showing that *no* such agreement, let alone discussions of any agreement, had ever existed or taken place. (A163-172). The State then withdrew this argument, but still maintained Claimant was not a prevailing party under the statute. (A175); (A192). The lower court agreed, and went further to find that counsel had performed *no* services for Rodriguez whatsoever to have his claim—made by

counsel since September—result in a favorable Order returning his vehicle. *Id.* at (A191-193). Claimant Rodriguez appeals this holding. Claimants also seek fees in this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Both appeals arose out of the same factual circumstances. On September 12, 2015, Officer Killpack conducted a traffic stop of Claimant Jean Carlos Herrera travelling westbound on I-80 for allegedly speeding 74 m.p.h. in a 70 zone. (A57). Officer Killpack admitted at the suppression hearing that when he went to stop the vehicle, “[he] pull[ed] them over for going 74 in a 70, but [was] really interested in knowing about whether or not this vehicle plated in New York might be potentially transporting drugs.” (A61).

With this goal in mind, the Officer Killpack detained Claimant Herrera for roughly 40 minutes on the side of the road. (A65, 67). During the stop—and supposedly in pursuit of a mere speeding infraction—the officer looked at the undercarriage of the vehicle using a flashlight, directed Claimant Herrera back to the squad car, asked Claimant Herrera about his destination and employment history, requested the passenger’s license, conducted a several minute “pipeline check” through the El Paso Intelligence Center, and performed three separate criminal checks on Claimant Herrera, the passenger, and the vehicle owner. (Recording of Stop, Suppression Hrg. Exh. 5); (A111). Through his questioning, the officer learned that the vehicle belonged to a family friend, Claimant Fernando Rodriguez. (A41). At 34 minutes into the stop, the officer began filling out the warning citation for speeding, which took only 8 minutes to complete. (A66-67).

Upon completing the warning citation, the officer asked for permission to search the vehicle. (A42). When Claimant Herrera declined this request, the officer ran a drug dog around the vehicle and directed it to jump up on the vehicle, performing a trespassory intrusion onto Claimants' property. (A43, 68-69). After the dog allegedly alerted, the vehicle was searched, and remnants of a green, leafy substance and drug paraphernalia were supposedly found, although these have not been seen since. (A44). The vehicle was then transferred to the station, where it was searched more thoroughly. (A45). From this search, officers seized the vehicle, a soft serve ice cream machine, pelican case, cordless drill, and vacuum pump. The forfeiture paperwork was given to Claimant Herrera, and he was sent on his way. (A46).

A few days later, the county attorney was contacted by counsel for Claimant Rodriguez, inquiring about return of the vehicle. (A75). Counsel made the State aware that Claimant Rodriguez would be pursuing an innocent owner claim, stating:

Shelly, one thing to consider is the owner has an innocent owner position and will be entitled to attorney fees should he prevail in that position. We have gotten fees for innocent owner cases before in other counties. It is provided by statute. I am sure the fees are going to be greater than the vehicle value, so this might be one to let go.

Id.

Rather than return the vehicle after this contact the State used counsel's emails as a basis to pursue *a second search*. (A47-56). The officer concluded the act of securing representation to seek return of *one's own property* was suspicious. (A83). He concluded this, despite the fact that the officer had served upon the Claimant forfeiture papers advising: "read [the forfeiture notice] carefully and seek advice from an attorney if you feel it is needed." (A49). In the application, the officer listed grounds for the warrant as it being suspicious to "spend a significant amount of money in attorney's fees, in an attempt to reclaim" a low-value vehicle. (A83).

However, what the officer failed to mention in the search warrant, even though he was on notice from the county attorney, was that Claimant was not known to be spending a significant amount of money—or any money at all, in fact—because Claimant Rodriguez was pursuing attorney fees from the State as an innocent owner. (A51-64). The prosecutor approved the application despite the material omission, and a warrant was obtained for a second search—this time deconstructive in nature. *Id.* During that search, U.S. currency was located and seized.

Based on these events, both Claimant Herrera and Claimant Rodriguez believed, on the advice of counsel, they had a valid interest in the property, and a valid claim that the searches and seizures were unlawful. Claimant Rodriguez filed

an application for a probable cause hearing pursuant to Iowa Code § 809A.12(3)(a)(1), and served upon the county attorney and seizing agency a claim of exemption. (A1-2); (A28-31). In each of these documents, Rodriguez claimed an ownership interest in the vehicle, and there was no issue concerning the legitimacy of his ownership claim because title was in his name. *See id.*

Claimants also filed an Answer to In Rem Forfeiture Complaint, signed by Claimant Herrera, where Claimant Herrera asserted he owned and had a possessory interest in the items inside the vehicle, including the U.S. currency. (A20). Central to this appeal, claimants stated the following in paragraphs 4 thru 6 of the Answer:

4. With this answer we are also filing a motion asserting that the vehicle stop, the subsequent detention and seizure, and the search of that vehicle, violated the prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizures found in the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and the corresponding provision of the Iowa Constitution.

5. The exclusionary rule under the Fourth Amendment and Iowa Constitution applies in forfeiture proceedings. See In the Matter of Property Seized from Sharon Kay Flowers, 474 N.W.2d 546 (Iowa 1991).

6. By virtue of the application of the exclusionary rule, further statements concerning the vehicle and its content would constitute derivative evidence also subject to the exclusionary rule. Consequently, until there is a determination on the motion to suppress, we object to providing further information for the reason that such further information would be the product of the original search and seizure that we believe violated [] constitutional rights.

(A20-21). The district court: (1) overruled Claimants' objection, (2) declared the answer insufficient, (3) declined to address Claimant's suppression motion, and (4) simultaneously declared the property automatically forfeited under Iowa Code §

809A.16(3), all without giving the parties further opportunity to respond. (A144-148). Claimants appeal this ruling.

The district court also concluded that Claimant Rodriguez was not subject to this ruling, evidently due to confusion regarding the pleadings. *See id.* Therefore, Claimant Rodriguez was forced to continue to litigate his claim to the vehicle until eventually the State withdrew the claim and the vehicle was ordered returned.

(A154). The State now contends Rodriguez is not entitled to attorney's fees because he was not a prevailing party under the statute, even though as early as Sept. 18, 2015 (when counsel originally contacted the county attorney) the State was aware that Rodriguez would be seeking attorney's fees as an innocent owner if forced to proceed to defend a forfeiture action and assert his innocent interest.

(A75). On April 13, 2016, Claimant Rodriguez's claim for attorney fees was denied, and Claimant Rodriguez appeals this holding. (A192).

Because the trial court never reached the merits of the motion to suppress, those issues are subject to determination by the trial court on remand. Claimant Rodriguez also seeks attorney fees associated with this appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. SHOULD A CLAIMANT FROM WHOM PROPERTY WAS SEIZED BE ABLE TO HAVE HIS MOTION TO SUPPRESS THE FRUITS OF A SEARCH AND SEIZURE HEARD BEFORE BEING REQUIRED TO PROVIDE TESTIMONIAL DETAILS IN AN ANSWER TO AN IN REM FORFEITURE COMPLAINT TO ESTABLISH STANDING, WHEN THE CLAIMANT CLAIMED OWNERSHIP AND OBJECTED TO PROVIDING SUCH TESTIMONIAL DETAILS AND ASSERTED THAT SUCH INFORMATION WOULD BE FRUIT OF AN ILLEGAL SEARCH AND SEIZURE?

A. Preservation of Error.

Claimants presented arguments on the sufficiency of the Answer and the Fourth Amendment violation at the hearing on the Motion to Suppress and in subsequent briefing to the court. (A35-40; 100-106). In those arguments, Claimants asked the court to rule on the Fourth Amendment violation prior to requiring them to plead testimonial evidence under the forfeiture statute. Despite this request, the lower court struck the answer and automatically declared the property forfeited. (A147). Claimants appeal this ruling.

B. Standard of Review.

The court's review of forfeiture proceedings is for correction of errors at law. *In re Young*, 780 N.W.2d 726, 727 (Iowa 2010). However, to the extent Claimant raises constitutional issues, the court's review is de novo. *Id.* Thus, questions concerning the exclusionary rule and whether the claimant was denied a due

process right to be heard by forcing him to make an unconstitutional choice are reviewed de novo.

C. Argument.

The answer to the complaint, filed on behalf of Claimants on November 5, 2015, after the State's second search of the vehicle under the faulty search warrant, complied with the requirements of Iowa Code § 809A.13(4). Iowa Code § 809A.13 sets out the requirements for answers to in rem forfeiture complaints, stating:

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