IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 16-0440

IN THE MATTER OF PROPERTY SEIZED FROM JEAN CARLOS
HERRERA AND FERNANDO RODRIGUEZ,

JEAN CARLOS HERRERA and
FERNANDO RODRIGUEZ,
Claimants-Appellants.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POTTAWATTAMIE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE GREGORY W. STEENSLAND, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

BRIDGET A. CHAMBERS
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
Bridget.Chambers@iowa.gov

MATT WILBER
Pottawattamie County Attorney

SHELLY SUDMANN
Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. Herrera's Answer to the Forfeiture Complaint Did Not Comply with the Requirements of Iowa Code Section 809A.13(4) and, Therefore, the District Court Properly Granted the State's Motion to Dismiss.

Preservation of Error

The State does not contest error preservation on the issue of whether the district court erred in granting the State's motion to dismiss.

Scope of Review

The court's review of forfeiture proceedings is for correction of errors at law. *In re Young*, 780 N.W.2d 726, 727 (Iowa 2010). To the extent that the petitioner raises constitutional issues, this court's review is *de novo*. *Id.*

Merits

Herrera challenges the district court's ruling that his answer to the State's in rem forfeiture petition failed to comply with the requirements of Iowa Code section 809A.13(4) and forfeiting the property at issue. His claim should be rejected. His answer failed to provide the information required by section 809A.13(4) and his failure to comply cannot be excused by his assertion that providing that information would require him to give up his rights under the

Fourth and Fifth Amendments to the United States Constitution or the analogous provisions of the Iowa Constitution.

Iowa Code section 809A.13(4) sets out the requirements for an answer to a forfeiture complaint. That subsection provides as follows.

4. The answer shall be signed by the owner or interest holder under penalty of perjury and shall be in accordance with rule of civil procedure 1.405 and shall also set forth all of the following:

a. The caption of the proceedings and identifying number, if any, as set forth on the notice of pending forfeiture or complaint and the name of the claimant.

b. The address where the claimant will accept mail.

c. The nature and extent of the claimant's interest in the property.

d. The date, the identity of the transferor, and the circumstances of the claimant's acquisition of the interest in the property.

e. The specific provision of this chapter relied on in asserting that it is not subject to forfeiture.

f. All essential facts supporting each assertion.

g. The specific relief sought.

Iowa Code section 809A.13(4) (2015). The district court found that Herrera's answer failed to comply with subsections (c) and (d) of that section and granted the State's motion to dismiss. The court's ruling

was proper as Herrera's answer was not sufficient to establish that he had standing to challenge the forfeiture.

Standing in forfeiture cases has “both constitutional and statutory aspects.” *United State v. Timley*, 507 F.3d 1125, 1129 (8th Cir. 2007) (quoting *United States v. One–Sixth Share of James J. Bulger in All Present & Future Proceeds of Mass Millions Lottery Ticket No. M246233*, 326 F.3d 36, 40 (1st Cir. 2003)). As to constitutional standing, “[i]t is well established that a party seeking to challenge a forfeiture of property must first demonstrate an ownership or possessory interest in the seized property in order to have standing to contest the forfeiture.” *Id.* at 1129. To have statutory standing under the Iowa in rem forfeiture statute, one must be a “claimant.” *Matter of Aronson*, 440 N.W.2d 394, 397 (Iowa 1989) (citing *United States v. Fifteen Thousand Five Hundred Dollars in U.S. Currency*, 558 F.2d 1359, 1360 (9th Cir.1977)).

In his answer, Herrera asserted that he was in lawful possession of the 1999 Ford Expedition, soft-serve ice cream machine, pelican case, cordless drill and battery, vacuum pump, and United States currency listed in the forfeiture complaint and asserted that he had “a legal ownership and possessory interest in those items.” He asked

that the items be returned to him. However, he failed to provide in his answer the information required by subsections (c) and (d).

Instead, Herrera asserted that the stop and search of the vehicle was unlawful under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and the corresponding provision of the Iowa Constitution. He then stated that

further statements concerning the vehicle and its contents would constitute derivative evidence also subject to the exclusionary rule. Consequently, until there is a determination on the motion to suppress, we object to providing further information for the reason that such information would be the product of the original search and seizure that we believe violated by constitutional rights.

Answer to In Rem Forfeiture Complaint; App. 21.

Herrera's claim did not comply with the requirements of Iowa Code section 809A.13(4)(c) and (d). Therefore, the district court properly dismissed Herrera's claim.

Herrera acknowledges that he did not provide all of the information required by section 809A.13(4), but contends that his answer was sufficient because he cannot be required to provide additional information regarding the nature and extent of his interest in the property without violating his rights under the Fourth and Fifth Amendments. The Iowa Supreme Court has rejected the argument

that a claimant asserting a fifth amendment objection is excused from providing the information required by the forfeiture statute to establish standing. *In Matter of Aronson*, the Court found that the plaintiffs were not “claimants” because they alleged no specific property interest in the forfeited items. They asserted that claiming ownership of the forfeited items might incriminate them in pending criminal investigations and contended that forcing them to choose between their privilege and their lawsuit made assertion of the privilege “costly.” The Court rejected that argument and held that the claimants had no standing to contest the forfeiture. *Matter of Aronson*, 440 N.W.2d 394, 397–98 (Iowa 1989) (citing *Fifteen Thousand Five Hundred Dollars*, 558 F.2d at 1360–61); accord, *In re Property Seized from Behmer*, 2006 WL 1279318 (Iowa Ct. App. May 10, 2006). The Iowa Court further held that, because the claimant lacked standing, their claims that the seizure was the result of an illegal search and an illegal wiretap were moot. *Id.* at 397-398.

The Eighth Circuit, too, has rejected a claim virtually identical to that raised by Herrera. In *U.S. v. \$154, 853.00 in U.S. Currency*, the government filed an in rem forfeiture complaint. The claimant, Marcus, filed an answer in which he stated: “Claimant has an

ownership and possessory interest in the seized U.S. Currency.” He asserted that part of the money seized from him was earned through his employment and the balance “was given to Claimant by another person with Claimant as bailee.” Marcus did not, however, identify the bailor or specifically state his own interest in the property, as required by the federal forfeiture statute. Similar to the statement made by Herrera in this case, Marcus’ answer stated only that he had “an ownership and possessory interest in the seized U.S. currency.” And, again like Herrera, Marcus objected to being required to provide any additional information, relying on his privileges under the Fourth Amendment and Fifth Amendments. *U.S. v. \$154, 853.00 in U.S. Currency*, 744 F.3d 559, 561-563 (8th Cir. 2014). The Eighth Circuit rejected Marcus’ argument, holding that his assertion of privilege under the Fourth and Fifth Amendments to refuse to answer questions designed to determine whether he had standing to raise a claim did not preclude the district court from striking his claims. *Id.* at 564 (citing *United States v. \$148,840.00 in U.S. Currency*, 521 F.3d 1268, 1273–74 (10th Cir. 2008) (“A claimant’s decision to invoke the Fifth Amendment’s protection against self-incrimination ... does not decrease his burden of establishing standing [.]”)).

Other courts considering the issue have likewise found no constitutional impediment to requiring a claimant in a forfeiture proceeding to identify the source and nature of his or her claimed property interest. In *Loveless v. State*, 786 S.E.2d 899, 901-902 (Ga. Ct. App. 2016), the Georgia Court of Appeals affirmed a default judgment of forfeiture. Under OCGA § 16-13-49 (o) (3) (D) (2014), the answer filed by an owner of property which asserts a claim against the property “must set forth: ... [t]he date, identity of transferor, and circumstances of the claimant's acquisition of the interest in the property. ...” Loveless did not include in his answer the date of the transfer of the cash, the identity of the transferor, or the circumstances of his acquiring the cash. The Court thus found that he had failed to satisfy the specific statutory pleading requirements regarding factual information that must be included in claims or answers filed by those claiming interests in seized property and that the district court did not err by striking Loveless' Answer as legally insufficient and by entering a default judgment of forfeiture. The court rejected the claimant's argument that the privilege set out in the Fifth Amendment and by Georgia statute overrode the requirement that an answer in a civil forfeiture proceeding must include the

information required in OCGA § 16–13–49 (o) (3)). *See also, People v. \$174, 980 U.S. Currency*, 996 N.E.2d 1102 (Ill. Ct. App. 2013) (claimant filed an answer to the State's in rem forfeiture complaint in the form of a signed, verified claim in which claimant asserted that he was the owner of the currency and sought its return. However, invoking the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution, claimant asserted a right to refuse to provide any information with respect to the date upon which he acquired the currency, the circumstances under which the currency was acquired, or the identity of the transferor of the currency. The court held that summary judgment for the State was proper.); *State v. \$8, 000.00 U.S. Currency*, 827 So.2d 634, 639 (La. Ct. App. 2002) (Motion to Release Seized Property failed to comply with La.R.S. 40:2610(B). Neither the motion, nor any other pleadings filed on behalf of Mr. Banyard, set forth “the nature and extent of the claimants’ interest in the property” as required under La.R.S. 40:2610(B)(3), or provided the “date, identity of the transferor, and the circumstances of the claimant's acquisition of the interest in the property” as required under La.R.S. 40:2610(B)(4). Additionally, the motion and other pleading filed on behalf of Mr. Banyard did not contain any “essential

facts supporting his assertion of ownership in the seized property” as required by statute. The Court rejected Banyard’s argument that under the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 16 of the Louisiana Constitution, he did not have to provide the information required by statute because such information could have led to self-incrimination.).

As for Herrera’s claim that he could not comply with the requirements of section 809A.13(4)(c) and (d) because of Fourth Amendment concerns, his claim is unpersuasive. The issue before the district court was whether Herrera had standing. Herrera’s claim that the evidence on which the State would presumably rely in establishing grounds for forfeiture would be inadmissible because it was seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment did not affect his ability to establish standing. Any challenge to the legality of the search and seizure would be moot until and unless Herrera established standing. *Aronson*, 440 N.W.2d at 397-398. The issue of the legality of the search and seizure would be considered only after Herrera established his standing to claim the property seized.

Further, to the extent that Herrera may be arguing that the State would be precluded from forfeiting the property if it was

obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment, his claim fails. The Iowa Supreme Court has expressly rejected that claim, stating “We hold the fact that property otherwise forfeitable has been seized in violation of the fourth amendment to the federal constitution is not a bar to forfeiture.” *In the Matter of Property Seized from Flowers*, 474 N.W.2d 546, 548 (Iowa 1991).

Any Fourth Amendment violation would become relevant only when the district court considered the merits of the State’s forfeiture petition: in establishing the right to forfeiture, the State would not be permitted to rely on evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment, nor derived from a violation thereof. *Id.* However, because Herrera did not establish standing, he would not be able to challenge any forfeiture decision made by the district court.

Herrera relies upon *In re Flowers*, 474 N.W.2d 546 (Iowa 1991) in support of his claim that the statements required under Iowa Code section 809A.13(4), subsection (d), are fruit of the poisonous tree and that a claimant should be able to challenge the illegality without providing the information required by section 809A.13(4). *Flowers* does not support his argument.

The issue in *Flowers* was not whether, to establish standing, a claimant in a forfeiture proceeding could be required to provide information that he believes was obtained in violation of his rights under the Fourth and Fifth Amendments. Rather, the issue was whether illegally obtained evidence could be relied upon by the State in establishing the merits of its forfeiture claim. The Court held that it could not. However, the Court made clear that the fact that property otherwise forfeitable has been seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment is not a bar to forfeiture. *In the Matter of Property Seized from Flowers*, 474 N.w.2d 546, 548 (Iowa 1991).

Herrera suggests that requiring him to establish standing before challenging the legality of the search and detention is unfair. The State would point out that this requirement is not unique to Iowa's forfeiture proceedings or unfair in any manner. Criminal defendants, too, are required to establish a reasonable expectation of privacy in the particular area searched or the particular objects seized. *State v. Lowe*, 812 N.W.2d 554, 566–67 (Iowa 2012); *Rakas v. Illinois*, 439 U.S. 128, 133–34 (1978). Thus, in order to challenge a search or seizure, even a criminal defendant may be required to provide evidence that might well be incriminating. *See, e.g. State v. Burnell*,

2004 WL 434188, *1-2 (Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 10, 2004) (A defendant in a drug case could not challenge the legality of a search and seizure of evidence found in residence. Defendant claimed that he was a guest at residence but did not claim that he was an overnight guest and failed to offer any evidence with respect to why he was at residence or how he was associated with owner of residence and therefore failed to demonstrate that he had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the premises.).

The district court did not err in finding that Herrera's answer to the State's in rem forfeiture complaint failed to comply with Iowa Code section 809A.13(4), that he therefore failed to establish standing to challenge the forfeiture, and in granting forfeiture. The court's ruling should be upheld on appeal.

II. The District Court Properly Entered an Order for Forfeiture.

Preservation of Error

The State does not contest error preservation on the issue of whether the district court erred in granting the State's motion to dismiss.

Scope of Review

The court's review of forfeiture proceedings is for correction of errors at law. *In re Young*, 780 N.W.2d at 727. To the extent that the petitioner raises constitutional issues, this court's review is de novo. *Id.*

Merits

In Division II of his appellate brief, Herrera largely reiterates the arguments made in Division I of his brief. The State has adequately addressed those claims above and does not discuss them further in its response to Division II. Herrera raises one new claim; he contends that the prosecutor and district court did not follow the proper procedure for entering a forfeiture order. That claim should be rejected as the procedures used comply with the procedures set out in Iowa Code chapter 809A.

As noted in Division I, above, the district court ruled that Herrera's answer to the State's forfeiture complaint did not comply with the requirements of Iowa Code section 809A.13(4). The court concluded that

the claimant is not entitled to a forfeiture hearing and evidentiary questions are rendered moot. Therefore, in accordance with Iowa Code §§ 809A.16(3), the property claimed

to be owned by Claimant is hereby forfeited to the State and the Motion to Suppress is denied.

Order (2/9/16); App. 147.

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